Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 1 of 31

FILED 06-01-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 4 Appeal No. 2022AP000272-CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

Damon D. Taylor,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the La Crosse County Circuit Court, The Honorable Ramona A. Gonzalez, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 111 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1925 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4825

414-671-9484 jensen@milwaukeecriminaldefense.pro

Attorneys for the Appellant

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 2 of 31

Statement of the Issue
Summary of the Argument
Statement of the Case 6
<u>Argument</u>
The circuit court erred in denying Taylor's postconviction motion to withdraw his no contest pleas.
<u>Conclusion</u>
Certification as to Length and E-Filing

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 5 of 31

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

The issues presented by this appeal are controlled by well-settled law. Therefore, the appellant does not recommend either oral argument or publication.

Statement of the Issue

While maintaining his innocence, Taylor entered no contest pleas to two charges in the information. Later, Taylor filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his no contest pleas because (1) the plea was not knowingly entered because the record of the plea colloquy fails to demonstrate that Taylor understood the essential elements of the offenses; (2) the plea was not voluntarily entered because Taylor plausibly testified that the only reason he pleaded no contest was because he sincerely believed that his attorney was unprepared for trial; and, (3) because this was a so-called "Alford" plea, the record must demonstrate that there is "strong proof" of Taylor's guilt, and the record fails to do so.

Thus, the issue is: Did the circuit court err in denying Taylor's postconviction motion to withdraw his no contest pleas?

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 6 of 31

Summary of the Argument

The circuit court erred in denying Taylor's postconviction motion to withdraw his no contest pleas (so-called "Alford pleas"). Taylor established that the pleas were not knowingly entered, they were not voluntarily entered, and the record fails to demonstrate that there is strong proof of his guilt.

The pleas were not knowingly entered because the record of the plea hearing fails to demonstrate that the judge explained to Taylor the essential nature of the charges to which he was pleading no contest. There is a plea questionnaire in the record, but the plea questionnaire does not inform Taylor of the elements of the offenses. Taylor testified at the motion hearing that he did not know the elements of the offenses, and the state made no effort to prove that Taylor did, in fact, know the elements. Thus, the plea was not knowingly entered.

The pleas were not voluntarily entered because Taylor testified that the only reason he entered the no contest pleas was because he did not believe that his attorney was prepared to defend him at trial. The state did not call the attorney as a witness; and, therefore, Taylor's testimony on this point is uncontroverted.

Finally, because these were "Alford pleas", it is required that the record demonstrates that there is strong proof of the Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 7 of 31

defendant's guilt. Here, the record does not demonstrate strong proof of Taylor's guilt, and, at the postconviction motion hearing, the circuit court made no finding that there was strong proof of Taylor's guilt.

Statement of the Case

On April 11, 2017, in a criminal complaint filed in La Crosse County, the defendant-appellant, Damon Taylor (hereinafter "Taylor"), was charged with: (1) attempted first degree intentional homicide, repeater, use of a dangerous weapon on April 5, 2017; (2) disorderly conduct as a repeater on January 24, 2017; (3) theft of movable property on March 2, 2017 to March 8, 2017; (4) possession of a firearm by a felon on January 24, 2017; (5) possession of methamphetamine on April 5, 2017; (6) possession of drug paraphernalia on April 5, 2017; and, (7) failure to comply with officer's attempt to take him into custody. (R:1)

In a nutshell, the complaint alleged in pertinent part that on April 5, 2017, police responded to a report of a shooting. Police determined that JLB and TM walked up to the door of a residence thought to be occupied by Ontario Lowry and Taylor. According to JLB, Lowry owed him (JLB) \$1000, and Lowry invited JLB to come to the residence to pick up the money. When JLB and TM got up to the door, someone inside started

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 8 of 31

shooting at them. They claim to have seen Lowry standing in a window looking at them. Police, who were surveilling the residence, saw the two men running away from the residence as someone from inside the residence was shooting at them. *Id.* JLB was shot in the leg.

Eventually¹, the matter proceeded to a preliminary hearing. Following the receipt of the testimony, the court dismissed count three (R:33-12); but bound Taylor over on the remaining counts. *Id.* The state filed an information (R:24), and Taylor entered not guilty pleas (R:33-14)

The case was called for trial on February 12, 2018. Following jury selection, the court conducted a colloquy with Taylor about whether he had been informed of the state's latest plea offer, and whether he rejected it. The judge said, "So, Mr. Taylor, the offer that the State is making you is a maximum sentence available to the Court of 27 years. The maximum that would be available to the Court if you were convicted of all charges as we proceed to trial is 100 years and a half. Do you understand that that's what we're looking at?" (R:57-57)

Taylor protested that he didn't do it. Id.

Taylor and his attorney were then given the opportunity to have further private discussions about the plea offer. Following that, the attorney informed the court, "Mr. Taylor will

_

¹ There was a delay because defense counsel raised the issue of Taylor's competence to proceed. The court ordered an examination, and, following the return of the doctor's report, the court determined that Taylor was competent to proceed.

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 9 of 31

take the deal . . . This will be an Alford plea." (R:57-60)

According to the plea agreement, Taylor maintained his innocence but indicated that he would enter an *Alford* plea to Count 1 as amended to second degree reckless endangerment while armed with a dangerous weapon; Count 2, possession of a firearm as a felon; and Count 5, failure to comply with the officer's attempt to take him into custody. Counts 3 and 4 would be dismissed. The state filed an amended information. (R:36)

Concerning the state's offer of proof, among other things, the prosecutor mentioned that one of the alleged victims, JLB, was not available for trial; and neither was Lowery. Nevertheless, the prosecutor told the court:

- "[TM], however, was ready to testify. Um, he would testify that they walked up to the door. He did have a handgun. He thought they were going to buy weed. When the door opened, he saw a person that he does not know that he identified as wearing dreadlocks that were blond tips with a distinctive tattoo on his face, which is Damon Taylor. He saw the gun fire at them, and he ran away. He returned fire, um, as he ran away trying to keep the person from coming out after them. " (R:57-68)
- "Seconds after the shooting, Investigator Mancuso observed Ontario Lowery in the upstairs window, um, so seeming to indicate that Ontario Lowery was

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 10 of 31

not the shooter, not in a position to shoot, and [TM] who doesn't know either individual identified the person with the tattoo on the face and dreads doing the shooting." *Id.*

- Lowery may not have appeared for trial. (R:57-69)
- After an alleged stand-off with police, Taylor was arrested in the residence where the shooting occurred. (R:57-71)

The court indicated that, "[T]he facts as recited by Mr. Gruenke into the record would support a finding of guilt if that was presented to the jury . . " but the judge made no finding that these facts constituted "strong proof of guilt". (R:57-71)

Concerning the elements of the offenses, the court said to Taylor, "Each crime would require that the State prove certain things with evidence beyond a reasonable doubt to convict you of those crimes. Did you review those with Mr. Longacre?" (R:57-67) Taylor answered in the affirmative. *Id.*

There is a completed plea questionnaire in the file. (R:39-5) The plea questionnaire, though, does not set forth the elements of the offenses to which Taylor entered guilty pleas.

While accepting Taylor's no contest pleas, the court gave a brief summary of each of the charges, but this amounted to no more than the "name" of the offense. For example:

> "Then I direct your attention to Count 1 of the Amended Information. The charge reads second

degree recklessly endangering safety, use of a dangerous weapon, as a repeater." (R:57-74)

"And Count 5 charges failure to comply with officer's attempt to take person into custody, as a repeater, and the allegation is that on the same date, time, and place as the two previous counts you did intentionally refuse to comply with an officer's lawful attempt to take you into custody and retreated or remained in a building or place, through action or threat attempted to prevent the officer from taking you -- or taking you into custody, and while doing each of the above, you re -- you became -- remained or became armed with a dangerous weapon or threatened to use a dangerous weapon."

Taylor did inform the court that he was satisfied with the representation that his attorney had provided. (R:57-63)

Later, the court sentenced Taylor to a total of 10 years of initial confinement, and seven years of extended supervision.

Taylor timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief.

On August 31, 2021, Taylor filed an amended postconviction motion. (R:112)² Taylor's postconviction motion sought to withdraw his no contest pleas because: (1) the court's

-

² For a time, Taylor was proceeding *pro se* during postconviction proceedings. He eventually hired counsel, and counsel filed the amended postconviction motion.

plea colloquy with Taylor was defective in that the judge did not explain to Taylor the essential elements of each offense, and, therefore, the record fails to demonstrate that Taylor understood the nature of the charges; (2) Taylor maintained his innocence and entered his no contest pleas pursuant to the Alford decision, and the record of the plea hearing fails to demonstrate that there is "strong proof" of the defendant's guilt; and, finally, (3) Taylor's no contest plea was not freely and voluntarily entered because he sincerely believed that his attorney was unprepared for trial, and, therefore, his only alternative was to accept the state's offer (R:112-1)

On February 3, 2022, the court conducted a hearing into Taylor's postconviction motion. Taylor testified at the hearing. According to Taylor, his trial counsel, Adrian Longacre, never asked him about what happened during the incident alleged in the complaint. (R:128-7) Nevertheless, Taylor told Longacre that he did not do what is alleged in the complaint (R:128-8) Taylor explained that, approximately a month before the start of trial, he had unsuccessfully attempted to fire Longacre. (R:128-9) This was because Longacre refused to file a motion to suppress evidence because he did not want to "piss anyone off." (R:128-10) Nevertheless, Taylor admitted that he eventually agreed to have Longacre continue as defense counsel. (R:128-11)

Longacre did meet with Taylor shortly before the start of

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 13 of 31

trial, but there was no discussion about trial strategy or the facts of the case. (R:128-11)

Thus, Taylor said, as the trial was about to start, he felt that he had no chance. (R:128-12) When the judge discussed the state's final offer with Taylor, he asked to have a moment to speak with Longacre. Following the meeting, Longacre informed the court that Taylor would enter a no contest plea pursuant to *Alford*.

Significantly, though, Taylor testified at the postconviction motion hearing that Longacre never discussed the elements of the offenses with him. (R:128-15, 16; R:128-18) Further, Taylor testified that, at the time he entered his pleas, he did not know the elements of the offenses. (R:128-16) Taylor admitted that he signed the plea questionnaire that was in the record; but, significantly, the plea questionnaire does not contain a description of the elements of the offenses. (R:128-17)

Taylor told the court that his guilty plea was not entered voluntarily because the only reason he pleaded guilty was because he believed that Longacre was unprepared to defend him; and, further, his plea was not intelligently entered because he did not understand the nature of the offenses. (R:128-21)

Longacre did not testify at the postconviction motion hearing.

The court denied Taylor's postconviction motion to withdraw his pleas. The court found that, "Mr. Longacre is a

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 14 of 31

very practiced attorney. The Court had confidence in his abilities. There was no question in my mind that he was prepared for trial if that's what Mr. Taylor wanted, but clearly with all of the facts as they were known, the offer that [the prosecutor] was making was in Mr. Longacre's opinion in the best interest of this defendant. The Court accepted the plea, quite frankly, because I agreed with Mr. Longacre based upon the (inaudible)" (R:128-38) Further, "The Court is satisfied that in taking the plea as . . . I was doing it that I sufficiently explained to Mr. Taylor what those elements are, and your motion is denied. " (R:128-39, 40)

Argument

I. The circuit court erred in denying Taylor's postconviction motion to withdraw his no contest pleas.

The circuit court erred in denying Taylor's postconviction motion to withdraw his no contest pleas (so-called "Alford pleas"). Taylor established that the pleas were not knowingly entered, they were not voluntarily entered, and the record fails to demonstrate that there is strong proof of his guilt.

The pleas were not knowingly entered because the record of the plea hearing fails to demonstrate that the judge explained to Taylor the essential nature of the charges to which

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 15 of 31

he was pleading no contest. There is a plea questionnaire in the record, but the plea questionnaire does not inform Taylor of the elements of the offenses. Taylor testified at the motion hearing that he did not know the elements of the offenses, and the state made no effort to prove that Taylor did, in fact, know the elements. Thus, the plea was not knowingly entered.

The pleas were not voluntarily entered because Taylor testified that the only reason he entered the no contest pleas was because he did not believe that his attorney was prepared to defend him at trial. The state did not call the attorney as a witness; and, therefore, Taylor's testimony on this point is uncontroverted.

Finally, because these were "Alford pleas", it is required that the record demonstrates that there is strong proof of the defendant's guilt. Here, the record does not demonstrate strong proof of Taylor's guilt, and, at the postconviction motion hearing, the circuit court made no finding that there was strong proof of Taylor's guilt.

A. Standard of appellate review

In this case, Taylor sought to withdraw his guilty plea for three reasons: (1) the record of the plea colloquy does not establish that the court ensured that Taylor understood the essential nature of the charges to which he was pleading no contest; (2) that the state failed to make an adequate showing Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 16 of 31

that it possessed "strong proof" of Taylor's guilt; and, (3) Taylor's plea was not voluntary because he sincerely believed that his trial counsel was unprepared for trial. The first two allegations pertain to the sufficiency of the record. The last allegation pertains to facts outside the record, and which were the topic of an evidentiary hearing. Thus, there are differing standards of appellate review depending upon which claim the appellate court is considering.

<u>i. Claim that the plea colloquy was defective: "Bangert standard"</u>

In, State v. Smith, 202 Wis.2d 21, 549 N.W.2d 232, 233-234 (Wis. 1996), the court stated, "Withdrawal of a plea following sentencing is not allowed unless it is necessary to correct a manifest injustice." One of the situations where plea withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice is where the plea was entered without knowledge of the charge. State v. Trochinski, 253 Wis.2d 38, 644 N.W.2d 891 (2002)."

Recently, in *State v. Cajujuan Pegeese*, 2019 WI 60, ¶¶ 26-27, 387 Wis. 2d 119, 139–40, 928 N.W.2d 590, 600 the supreme court reaffirmed the so-called "*Bangert* procedure" for adjudicating a motion to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing. The court explained:

Defendants such as Pegeese who move to withdraw a plea based on a defective plea colloquy have the initial burden to meet a Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 17 of 31

two-prong test: (1) the defendant must "make a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other court-mandated duty"; and (2) the defendant must "allege that the defendant did not, in fact, know or understand the information that should have been provided during the plea colloquy." *Id.*, ¶32 (citing *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 274, 389 N.W.2d 12). In order to make a prima facie showing, the defendant may not rely on conclusory allegations. *Id.* The defendant "must point to deficiencies in the plea hearing transcript" to meet his initial burden. *Id.* If the defendant fails to meet his initial burden, then the circuit court must deny the defendant's plea withdrawal motion. *See id.*

When a defendant successfully meets both prongs, then that defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing, also known as a "Bangert hearing." Id. If a Bangert hearing occurs, the burden of proof shifts to the State to show "by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea, despite the inadequacy of the plea colloquy, was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary." Id. (citing Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 274, 389 N.W.2d 12). In attempting to meet its burden, "[t]he State may use 'any evidence' to prove that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, including any documents in the record and testimony of the defendant or defendant's counsel." Id. (citing Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 274–75, 389 N.W.2d 12). If the State fails to meet its burden at the Bangert hearing, then the defendant is entitled to withdraw his guilty or no contest plea. See id

<u>ii. Claim that defense counsel was unprepared:</u> <u>"Nelson/Bentley standard"</u>

Taylor testified that his no contest pleas were not

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 18 of 31

voluntary because he reasonably believed the Longacre was unprepared to defend a trial.

It is well-settled that, "When a defendant seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, he must prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in 'manifest injustice.' [internal citation omitted] One way the defendant can show manifest injustice is to prove that his plea was not entered . . . voluntarily. [internal citation omitted] *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶¶ 24-25, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 44–45, 829 N.W.2d 482, 489

"A plea not entered . . . voluntarily violates fundamental due process, and a defendant therefore may withdraw the plea as a matter of right. [internal citation omitted]. Whether a plea was entered . . . voluntarily is a question of constitutional fact that is reviewed independently." *Taylor*, 347 Wis. 2d at 45.

In State v. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, P45, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 185-186, 765 N.W.2d 794, 806, 2009 Wisc. LEXIS 31, *29 as in this case, the defendant claimed that his plea was involuntary because he believed his attorney was unprepared to defend him at trial. 317 Wis. 2d at 194, 765 N.W.2d at 810 There, as here, the court conducted a hearing into the claims. Ultimately, the circuit court disbelieved Hoppe's testimony that he perceived that his attorney was unprepared, but, nevertheless, the claim was the subject of an evidentiary hearing.

On appeal from an order denying the appellant's

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-01-2022 Page 19 of 31

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