FILED 08-01-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP272-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAMON D. TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ENTERED IN LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RAMONA A. GONZALEZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101447

Assisted by: Leah Parks Kramer Law Student Extern

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Taylor's *Bangert* claim fails because the record shows that he understood the elements of the crimes.
 - A. A defendant faces a heavy burden when seeking to withdraw a plea after sentencing.

Before sentencing, circuit courts "should 'freely allow a defendant to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing for any fair and just reason, unless the prosecution [would] be substantially prejudiced." *State v. Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 2,

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-01-2022 Page 11 of 22

303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24 (alteration in original) (citation omitted). After sentencing, however, plea withdrawal becomes significantly disfavored. "When a defendant seeks to withdraw [his] guilty plea after sentencing, he must prove, by clear and convincing evidence that" plea withdrawal is necessary to avoid a manifest injustice. *Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 18. "One way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea." *Id*.

"[T]here are two methods by which courts typically review motions to withdraw guilty or no contest pleas after judgment and sentence." State v. Negrete, 2012 WI 92, ¶ 16, 343 Wis. 2d 1, 819 N.W.2d 749. One method is based on Bangert and applies when the defendant alleges defects in the plea colloquy. See State v. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, ¶ 3, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 765 N.W.2d 794. The second method is based on Bentley and applies when the defendant claims "that some factor extrinsic to the plea colloquy, [such as] ineffective assistance of counsel . . . , renders a plea infirm." State v. Howell, 2007 WI 75, ¶ 74, 301 Wis. 2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48.

A defendant seeking plea withdrawal under *Bangert* has two initial burdens. *See Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶¶ 39–40. First, he must "make a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) or other court-mandated duties by pointing to passages or gaps in the plea hearing transcript." *Id.* ¶ 39. Second, he must "allege that [he] did not know or understand the information that should have been provided at the plea hearing." *Id.* If the defendant meets both of these requirements, the burden shifts to the State to show that the defendant entered the plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily despite the alleged defect in the plea colloquy. *Negrete*, 343 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 19. Courts use the "entirety of the record" to determine whether the defendant understood the information that should have been provided at the plea hearing. *Id.* ¶ 13.

B. The record shows that Taylor understood the elements of the crimes with which he was charged.

Here, Taylor argues that the plea colloquy was defective because the circuit court failed to explain to him the elements of the crimes to which he entered *Alford* pleas. (Taylor's Br. 20–23⁵.) He raises no other challenge to the plea colloquy. However, the totality of the record shows Taylor in fact understood the elements of the crimes with which he was charged.

The circuit court's finding that Taylor understood the elements of the crimes to which he pleaded was based primarily on Taylor's own representations to the court. The circuit court listed each crime with which Taylor was charged and asked Taylor whether he "know[s] what each of those crime is." (R. 57:67.) Taylor responded, "Yes, ma'am." (R. 57:67.) The circuit court went on to ask Taylor, "Each crime would require that the State prove certain things with evidence beyond a reasonable doubt to convict you of those crimes. *Did you review those with Mr. Longacre?*" (R. 57:67.) (emphasis added).) Taylor responded, "Yes." (R. 57:67.)

This exchange unequivocally shows that Taylor reviewed the elements of each of the crimes with his attorney—a "very practiced attorney," (R. 128:37),—prior to entering his plea, and therefore understood the information that should have been presented at the plea hearing. *See Negrete*, 343 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 19. And all this was in addition to completing and signing the plea questionnaire.

Taylor attempts to analogize this case to Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594. However, Brown is inapposite for at least two

⁵ For all citations to the Appellant's Brief, the State cites to the electronic page numbers and not the page numbers listed at the bottom of the brief.

12

reasons. The first reason is that in Brown, the issue was whether the defendant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his Bangert claim. Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 6. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that Brown's allegation was sufficient to entitle him to a hearing. Id. Here, in contrast, Taylor received an evidentiary hearing—the circuit court simply did not find him to be credible, and instead found that he understood the elements of the crimes with which he was charged.

The second reason Brown is inapposite is that in Brown, there was no plea questionnaire at all. Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 11. This was because the defendant was illiterate, so any advisement of rights would have had to be done orally if at all. Id. That was not the case here, as a completed and signed plea questionnaire was filed. (R. 39:3–6.) Because the State proved that Taylor in fact understood the elements of the crimes with which he was charged, Taylor is not entitled to withdraw his plea under Bangert.

II. Taylor's *Bentley* claim fails because he did not show that his attorney was unprepared for trial.

A. A defendant faces a heavy burden when seeking to withdraw a plea after sentencing.

As discussed above, a *Bentley* plea withdrawal claim means the defendant asserts that "some factor extrinsic to the plea colloquy, like ineffective assistance of counsel or coercion, renders a plea infirm." *State v. Sulla*, 2016 WI 46, ¶ 25, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659 (citation omitted). "The defendant must prove by clear and convincing evidence that withdrawal of the guilty plea is necessary to avoid a manifest injustice." *Hoppe*, 317 Wis. 2d 161, \P 60.

Because a *Nelson/Bentley* motion concerns an error extrinsic to the on-the-record colloquy, a defendant has a much more onerous burden to warrant an evidentiary hearing on such a claim. *See Sulla*, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 26 (discussing

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-01-2022 Page 14 of 22

the *Nelson/Bentley* burden). He must allege sufficient facts that, if true, show he is due relief. *Id.* If he raises only conclusory assertions towards such a claim, the circuit court has discretion to "deny the motion without a hearing." *Id.* ¶ 27 (citation omitted). Where a defendant's *Nelson/Bentley* claim concerns ineffective assistance of counsel, to show prejudice, the defendant's motion must plead sufficient facts to show that, but for counsel's alleged error, "he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (citation omitted).

If a defendant does allege sufficient facts to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing, "the defendant maintains the burden of proof in a *Bentley*-type hearing and the facts adduced must show manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence before the defendant may withdraw his plea." Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 42.

B. Taylor has failed to prove that his attorney was unprepared for trial.

Here, Taylor does not even claim that his attorney performed deficiently in any way. (Taylor's Br. 23.) Instead, he argues only that he feared his attorney was not prepared for trial. (Taylor's Br. 24–25.) That speculative fear does not come close to meeting his burden of proving ineffective assistance. *See State v. Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d 174, 187, 500 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1993) ("A showing of prejudice requires more than speculation.").

At the hearing, Taylor claimed that he believed counsel was unprepared because he urged him to take a plea instead of going to trial. (R. 128:33–34.) Taylor claimed he understood this legal advice to mean that counsel was unprepared, even though counsel did not say he was unprepared. (R. 128:33–34.) Taylor also claimed that he wanted counsel to file a "motion to suppress evidence" because he had heard about it

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-01-2022 Page 15 of 22

from someone in jail. (R. 128:9.) He claimed counsel told him he was not going to file a motion to suppress evidence simply because he did not want to "piss anybody off." (R. 128:9–10.) Taylor did not explain what basis there would have been, if any, for a suppression motion. (R. 128:27.) He also claimed he assumed counsel was not competent to represent him properly because counsel was "87 years old probably" and had a hearing aid. (R. 128:35.)

Taylor admitted, however, that he had stated on the record that he was satisfied with counsel's performance, and that he never voiced any of his supposed concerns to the judge until after sentencing. (R. 128:35.)

Taylor's claims were simply not credible. The circuit court disbelieved Taylor and found that counsel was diligent and prepared for trial. (R. 128:36–37.) The mere fact that counsel advised his client to accept a plea offer does not remotely suggest that counsel was unprepared for trial. If Taylor truly did believe his attorney was unprepared—and the State maintains that he did not—such belief was not reasonable based on the information Taylor had.

Finally, Taylor's numerous admissions during the plea hearing also contradict his self-serving, after-the-fact claim that he believed his counsel was unprepared. At his plea hearing, Taylor told the court that he was not threatened, forced, or coerced "in any fashion" to enter a plea, (R. 57:64); that he believed he had sufficient time to consult with counsel, as well as with family members, to discuss the case, (R. 57:64–65); that he reviewed the elements of all the charged crimes with counsel, (R. 57:67); and most importantly, that he was satisfied with counsel's representation, (R. 57:63). All these contemporaneous admissions hold far more weight than Taylor's later self-serving statements after receiving a lengthier sentence than he hoped for. For all these reasons, Taylor failed to prove that he reasonably believed his attorney was unprepared for trial. See Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 42.

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-01-2022 Page 16 of 22

III. Taylor's *Alford* plea was supported by strong proof of guilt as to each offense.

Before accepting a plea, the circuit court must "[m]ake such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). This factual basis requirement protects "a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." *State v. Thomas*, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836 (citation omitted).

In the Alford context, a defendant agrees to plea no contest "while either maintaining his innocence or not admitting having committed the crime." State v. Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 856, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995). In such a situation, the circuit court must determine whether "the evidence the state would offer at trial is strong proof of guilt." State v. Johnson, 105 Wis. 2d 657, 663, 314 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1981); see also North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970) (no constitutional error where "the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt"). Strong proof is required "as to each element of the crime" charged. Smith, 202 Wis. 2d at 28. But this is not the equivalent of proof beyond a reasonable doubt; rather, the factual basis need only be defendant's sufficient "to substantially negate [the] [protestations] of innocence." State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 645, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998) (first alteration in original) (citation omitted).

Here, Taylor entered *Alford* pleas to second-degree recklessly endangering safety, possession of firearm by a felon, and failure to comply with an officer's attempt to take him into custody. (R. 48:1.) The record before the circuit court contained strong proof of Taylor's guilt as to each of these offenses.

Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-01-2022 Page 17 of 22

A. Second-degree Recklessly Endangering Safety

Second-degree recklessly endangering safety requires the State to prove (1) "[t]he defendant endangered the safety of another human being" (2) by "criminally reckless conduct." Wis. Stat. § 941.30(2); Wis. JI-Criminal 1347 (2015). The facts in the record constitute strong proof of Taylor's guilt as to this charge.

First, the evidence shows that Taylor endangered the safety of another human being. As the prosecutor explained at the plea hearing, the State would have "presented a number of witnesses that were doing surveillance at the house when the shooting happened." (R. 57:67.) They would have testified as to what was alleged in the complaint: that TM and JB walked up to the door and then ran away while being shot at. (R. 57:67–68.) Additionally, TM would have testified that he opened the door, saw Taylor, and ran away while Taylor fired at him. (R. 57:68.) Taylor was identified as the shooter due to his distinctive face tattoo and his distinctive hairstyle. (R. 57:68.)

Second, Taylor's conduct was criminally reckless. Recklessness requires that the defendant created "an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm," and was "aware of that risk." Wis. Stat. § 939.24(1). The evidence showed that Taylor intentionally fired gunshots at two people, (R. 57:68), so he created an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm and was aware of that risk. For these reasons, there was strong evidence that Taylor was guilty of second-degree recklessly endangering safety. See Johnson, 105 Wis. 2d at 663.

Taylor claims there was not strong proof of guilt because a mystery third person, as opposed to Taylor, could have been the shooter. (Taylor's Br. 27.) But as discussed above, the shooter was identified as having dreadlocks and a Case 2022AP000272 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-01-2022 Page 18 of 22

distinctive face tattoo, which described Taylor. (R. 57:68.) Additionally, Taylor has still not identified the alleged third person he claims was in the apartment with himself and Lowery, nor has he explained how this alleged mystery person could have somehow escaped the apartment unnoticed while it was surrounded by police.

Finally, Taylor argues that the facts introduced by the prosecutor "raise[] the specter of self-defense." (Taylor's Br. 28.) There are two problems with this argument. The first and most obvious problem is that Taylor has repeatedly and unequivocally denied, on the record and under oath, that he fired any shots. (R. 50:26–27; 128:8.) He instead claimed that a "friend of [Lowery]," who he chooses not to identify, fired the shots and then escaped unnoticed. (R. 50:26-27.) In order to raise self-defense, a defendant must proffer evidence that, viewed in a light most favorably to him, would allow a jury to conclude that his theory of self-defense was not disproved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Head, 2002 WI 99, ¶ 115, 255 Wis. 2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. Taylor has not advanced any evidence at all that he shot in self-defense—on the contrary, he denies that he was the shooter—so he cannot meet the standard to raise self-defense as an issue.

Relatedly, the second problem with Taylor's "specter of self-defense" argument is that regardless of Taylor's claim that a mystery third person fired the shots, there is no evidence supporting a claim of self-defense. Specifically, there is no evidence that TM did anything to cause Taylor to believe that it was necessary to defend himself. Taylor has not claimed that TM threatened to shoot him. The mere fact that TM had a gun with him, without more, is not enough to raise self-defense. See Head, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 115.

B. Possession of a Firearm by a Felon

Possession of a firearm by a felon has two elements: (1) "[t]he defendant possessed a firearm"; and (2) the defendant has been convicted of a felony prior to possessing the firearm. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m); Wis. JI-Criminal 1343 (2021). The facts in the record constitute strong proof of Taylor's guilt as to this charge.

First, Taylor possessed a firearm. As discussed above, the evidence showed that Taylor shot JB, which would not have been possible without a firearm. The prosecutor explained that Taylor's DNA was found on the magazine that was wrapped in a towel with the gun under the stove in the apartment, and Taylor was also not excluded from the DNA mixture found on the gun itself. (R. 57:69.) Finally, there was a picture of him on Facebook holding what appeared to be the Taurus PT 111 9mm handgun that was found in the apartment. (R. 1:5; 57:70.)

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